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The Parthenon in History
Robert Browning

For close to two and a half millennia the Parthenon has stood on the
Acropolis, dominating the city of Athens. A few other buildings,
such as the pyramid of Cheops in Egypt, have endured longer. But
none of them displays the architectural complexity and the artistic
distinction of the Parthenon. And none possesses the rich associa-
tions and the symbolic values which the Parthenon has acquired in
the course of centuries. It is no accident that when the United
Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO)
was established after World War I1 it chose as its emblem the facade
of the Parthenon. Nor was it by chance that when in 1897 the
citizens of Nashville, Tennessee, wished to build in their Centennial
Park a replica of a famous building, one which would symbolise
their own aspirations and recall the principles which inspired the
founders of the Union and those who saved it from disintegration,
they chose the Parthenon. Nothing, they believed, would better
represent the right to life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness, and
government of the people by the people for the people. Few of
those who made that choice had ever seen the Parthenon, but they
knew what it was and what it meant.

A century earlier a similar project had met with less success. In the
years after Waterloo a proposal was made to erect a Scottish
National Monument on Calton Hill in Edinburgh. After some
acrimonious exchanges in the pages of the Quarterly Review and the
Edinburgh Review between the partisans of gothic and classical
architecture, it was finally decided to build a full-size replica of
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the Parthenon, sculptures and all, which was to be both a Scottish
Pantheon and ‘a place of divine worship’. An Enabling Act was
passed by Parliament in July 1822, and on 27 August the foundation
stone was laid by the Duke of Hamilton in the presence of King
George IV. However, enthusiasm soon waned and money ran out.
Only twelve columns of the west peristyle, with their cornice, were
completed. They still stand, gaunt and forlom, a mute witness to
Scottish philhellenism and to Scottish caution, not to say parsimony.

A brief survey of the fortunes of the Parthenon since it was built,
and of the role which it has played in the art, thought and feeling of
succeeding generations, may add a historical dimension to the
theme of the present book.

In 448 BC the Athenian assembly voted to employ its accumu-
lated surplus revenue to rebuild the temple of the warrior-goddess
Athena, which stood on the highest point of the Acropolis,
dominating the city and its surrounding countryside. It was probably
intended in the first place as a memorial to those who had fallen in
the wars against Persia more than a generation earlier. The old
temple of Athena had been begun just before or just after the battle
of Marathon in 490 sc but had been razed to the ground by the
Persians during their brief occupation of Athens in 480 sc.

But the decision to rebuild the ravaged monuments of the
Acropolis was not mere brooding on the past. It was concermed
with the present and the future too. Athens was now at the height of
her political power. A treaty had been made with the Persians which
guaranteed the Greek cities against outside interference and so
fulfilled the purpose for which the Delian League, headed by
Athens, had been founded after the Persian wars. Athens, however,
was more than a locus of power. It was also the undisputed centre of
an astounding intellectual and artistic awakening, which has marked
the subsequent history of Europe and of the world. It was in fifth-
century Greece, and above all in Athens, that men first reflected in a
rigorous and yet imaginative way on the nature of knowledge, on
the principles which guide human conduct, on the significance of
their own past, on the way the universe was composed and how it
worked. The very words logic, philosophy, ethics, history, physics
are Greek. Athens was the first society which sought to solve the
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great problems of reconciling power with justice, social cohesion

with individual freedom, and the pursuit of excellence with equality
of opportunity. Politics and democracy are Greek words too. When
work on the Parthenon began Aeschylus was recently dead, Soph-
ocles and Euripides were at the height of their powers — the Antigone
was produced as the foundations were being laid, the Medea a year
after the temple was completed. Socrates as a young man watched
the Parthenon rise, and very probably took part in its construction,
since he was a stonemason and sculptor by trade. Polygnotus, whom
Theophrastus called ‘the inventor of painting’, painted his great
fresco of the capture of Troy in the Stoa Poikile, overlooking the
Agora in Athens, shortly before work began on the Parthenon. The
new temple was to be the visible token and embodiment of the
confidence and pride with which the generation of Pericles faced
the world, and an inspiration to others, present and future. Like the
great funeral oration which the historian Thucydides put in the
mouth of Pericles, it was to be an everlasting monument to a unique
and dazzling society.

Work was begun on the new building in 447 Bc, and it was
completed in 432 Bc. We do not know much about the detailed
arrangements for its construction. The moving spirits were Pericles,
reelected year after year to political leadership, and Phidias the
sculptor, who had recently made the colossal statue of Athena
Promachos which stood at the entrance to the Acropolis, and who
was soon to work on the temple of Zeus at Olympia. He seems to
have been the artistic director of the whole Periclean building
programme. The principal architect was Iktinos, who had earlier
designed the temple of Apollo at Bassae in Arcadia. ‘In some sense,’
writes Wycherly, ‘the Parthenon must have been the work of a
committee. In a very real sense it was the work of the whole
Athenian people, not merely because hundreds of them had a hand
in building it, but because the assembly was ultimately responsible,
confirmed appointments, and sanctioned and scrutinised the ex-
penditure of every drachma.’

Pericles’ political opponents were, or pretended to be, indignant
at the public expenditure involved and the raids made on funds
originally contributed by Athens’s allies for defence against the
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Persians. Pericles, they said, “was decking out our city like a wanton
woman, decorating her with costly stones and thousand-talent
temples’. The opposition received little support. Pericles was re-
elected again and again by his fellow citizens.

The Parthenon is a Doric peripteral amphiprostyle temple; that is,
it has a row of Doric columns on either side and a double row in the
porches at either end. It is built entirely of white Pentelic marble
from Attica. The dimensions of the stylobate, or platform, are 69.51
metres by 30.86 metres (a proportion of 9 to 4, which recurs in
other features of the building). There were originally fifty-eight
columns, seventeen on either side, eight at either end, and six in the
inner row in each porch. There was also an interior colonnade
supporting the roof, of which a few traces still remain. The temple
was divided into two chambers, the cella on the east, in which stood
Phidias’ gold and ivory statue of Athena, 12 metres high, and the
opisthodomos on the west, in which the treasures of the goddess and
the city were stored. There was no internal communication be-
tween the two chambers. The sculptures comprised triangular
pediments at either end, with statues in the round representing
the birth of Athena and her contest with Poseidon for the land of
Attica, ninety-two metopes in high relief (thirty-two on each side,
fourteen on each end) showing scenes from Greek mythology and
legend of special Athenian interest, and a frieze in low relief 160
metres long depicting the procession to the temple at the Panath-
enaic festival. Metopes and frieze were part of the structure of the
building and not decoration added after its completion.

‘The Parthenon’, writes Wycherly, ‘is the culmination of Greek
architecture.” The subtle refinements which exploit the distortions of
human vision have only recently been fully observed and understood.
It is also the culmination of Greek sculpture, far surpassing in both the
quality and the quantity of its decoration any other building of the
classical age. Building and sculpture were conceived and executed as
part of a common plan. The importance of the Parthenon as a pan-
Hellenic and not merely as an Athenian monument was recognised by
Alexander the Great, who after his victory over the Persians by the
river Granicus had twenty Persian shields suspended as votive offer-
ings beneath the pediments of the temple.
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The builders of the Parthenon built well. Little damage was done
over the centuries by seismic activity, military operations or weath-
er. However, a fire in the second century B¢ destroyed or damaged
much of the intetior, including the interior colonnade, the ceiling
and the cult statue. The temple was restored, with a new statue
modelled on the original, in 165-160 BC, probably by King-
Antiochus of Syria, in whose eyes the Parthenon was evidently a
monument of more than local significance. Three centuries later
Plutarch found in the sculptures both an aura of antiquity and the
immediacy and freshness of youth, while for Pausanias, around 200
AD, the Parthenon was one of the ‘sights’ of Athens. In 362-363 the
emperor Julian undertook extensive repairs as part of his campaign
to re-establish pagan religion in an ever more Christian world. He
had spent some time in Athens as a student, and knew and loved the
city and its venerable monuments.

Some time in the fifth century ap, probably in the reign of
Theodosius 11 (408-450), the Parthenon was closed by order of
the government in Constantinople. Proclus, the head of the Acad-
emy and one of the last great Neo-Platonist philosophers, lamented
that he could no longer enter the temple to pray. Shortly afterwards
it was converted, like many other pagan temples, into a Christian
church, dedicated to the Holy Wisdom. This involved considerable
adaptation. An apse was built at the east end, incorporating two of
the prostyle columns and blocking the entrance to the cella. The
building could now be entered only through the opisthodomos,
which served as the narthex or porch of the church. Three doorways
were cut through the wall between the opisthodomos and the cella.
In this way the orientation of the building was reversed to accord
with Christian usage. The floor was raised at the east end to form a
chancel, upon which was set an altar surmounted by a baldachino
supported by four porphyry columns. Round the inside of the apse
ran a semicircular synthronon or raised bench for the clergy, with a
marble throne for the bishop in the middle (perhaps that now in the
storeroom of the Acropolis Museum). Whether there ever was a
women’s gallery is uncertain. The roof, which may have been in
poor repair, was raised along the central axis of the building, and
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clerestory windows were set between the new and the old roof
sections to provide internal illumination. The occasional, apparently
deliberate, defacement of sculptured figures was probably the work
of over-zealous Christians at this time; but there was no systematic
defacement.

The interior of the new church may well have been decorated
with mosaics and/or paintings, either directly on the marble of the
walls or in fresco on a layer of plaster. There are faint traces of
painting on parts of the walls. But virtually nothing is known of the
early Christian decoration, which in any case may have been
removed or plastered over during the prevalence of iconoclasm
in the eighth and early ninth centuries.

The Parthenon continued in use as a Christian church for a
thousand years. During this long period minor modifications and
repairs were carried out. Some burals took place within or im-
mediately adjacent to the building, probably in the early period of
Chuistian use. From 694 until 1204 notices of the deaths of the
bishops and archbishops of Athens were carved high up on some of
the peristyle columns. In 1018 the emperor Basil II came to Athens
to give thanks for his victory over the Bulgars — and perhaps to seek
forgiveness for his savage treatment of his prisoners. He made many
valuable gifts to the church of the Holy Wisdom. A celebrated
mosaic of the Virgin in the apse dates from the early eleventh
century, and may well have been executed under the patronage of
Basil. A reproduction of it figures on the seals of the archbishops of
Athens from the eleventh century on. The mosaic itself seems to
have been severely damaged by Frankish soldiers in 1204; no doubt
they believed its gilt glass cubes were gold. Towards the end of the
twelfth century the archbishop Michael Choniates ‘beautified’ — the
word is his own ~ the church, of which he was fiercely proud. The
mural paintings of which faint traces were still visible early in the
twentieth century were perhaps part of his ‘beautification’. An icon
in the church was believed to have been painted by Saint Luke. An
Icelandic pilgrim in the early twelfth century describes a miraculous
lamp set before the altar which burned constantly without refilling.

In 1204, as a result of the Fourth Crusade, Athens passed into the
hands of the first of a series of western rulers, the Burgundian de la

Robert Browning 9

Roches. The Parthenon was taken over by Latin clergy with a
French bishop at their head, and became the church of Our Lady of
Athens. They made little change in the appearance of the building.
We hear of restoration of silver plates on the doors which had been
removed in the mid-fourteenth century to pay Navarrese mercen-
ary soldiers. A small tower was added over the west front. Some
scholars believe that this tower was in fact built before 1204. But the
Latins, if they did not build the lower square section, certainly added
an upper cylindrical section. The new rulers were not entirely
insensitive to the beauty of what they had inherited from antiquity.
King Pedro IV of Aragon, then titular Duke of Athens, in 1380
described the Acropolis, of which the Parthenon is the most notable
monument, as ‘the richest jewel in the world, of which every king
in Christendom would be envious’. It was in the last days of Latin
rule that the first western classical archaeologist, Cyriac of Ancona,
twice visited the Parthenon, in 1436 and 1447. He knew something
of its origin and history. In his notebooks and letters he provides
brief but ecstatic descriptions of the temple, accompanied by some-
what impressionistic drawings.

In 1458 the Frankish garrison on the Acropolis surrendered to the
Ottoman Turks. Shortly afterwards Sultan Mehmed 11, the con-
queror of Constantinople, visited Athens and expressed his admira-
tion of its ancient monuments. During the period of Turkish rule,
the Acropolis was a fortress occupied by Turkish troops and not
easily accessible to visitors. The Parthenon became a mosque for the
use of the garrison. Its mosaics and frescoes were whitewashed or
plastered over. The Turkish traveller Evliya Chelebi (c. 1667)
provides the only reliable and detailed account of the interior of
the building at this period. “We have seen mosques all over the
world’, he writes, ‘but its peer we have not seen.” Both the
baldachino on its porphyry columns and the marble bishop’s throne
— which Evliya believed to be the throne of Plato — were still in
place and undamaged.

The earliest descriptions of Athens by post-Renaissance western
visitors belong to the period of Turkish occupation. In particular,
the drawings of the Acropolis and its building made in 1674 for
Louis XIV’s ambassador, the Marquis de Nointel, show the exterior
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of the Parthenon and its sculptures in faithful detail. They were once
attributed to Jacques Carrey of Troyes, and are often referred to as
the Carrey drawings, though it is now certain that they are the work
of an anonymous artist. The descriptions and illustrations by the
French doctor and antiquarian Jacques Spon of Lyons and his
travelling companion the English botanist George Wheler, who
visited Athens in 1676 with a letter of recommendation from the
Marquis de Nointel, are of particular interest, since they were
allowed to enter the Parthenon. Their account of their travels in
Greece was published in Lyons in 1678 in three richly illustrated
folio volumes; 178 pages of the second volume are devoted to
Athens.

In 1687 a Venetian army, made up almost entirely of mercenaries,
besieged Athens in a vain attempt to drive the Turks from Greece.
On 26 September, during a bombardment of the Acropolis by the
Swedish Count Koenigsmark, a mortar bomb penetrated the roof of
the Parthenon and caused the supplies of gunpowder which the
Turks had stored in the building to explode. A few days later the city
surrendered to the Venetians. The damage done to the Parthenon
was extensive. The middle portions of the long side colonnades and
the columns of the east porch were brought down; the upper part of
the cella walls was largely destroyed; the interior colonnade was
overthrown. During the two years of Venetian occupation further
damage was caused by the removal of sculptures. The Venetian
commander Francesco Morosini, eager to emulate Doge Enrico
Dandolo, who in 1204 had brought from Constantinople the four
bronze horses now adoming the facade of the basilica of San Marco,
tried to bring down the sculptures of the west pediment of the
Parthenon. Their weight was too great for the equipment at the
disposal of his engineers, and he succeeded only in smashing most of
them. Two small pieces now in Copenhagen were picked up by a
Danish officer in the Venetian service. A head of a Lapith found
buried in the mud at Piraeus in 1870 was probably accidentally
dropped overboard by a member of Morosini’s army.

In the late eighteenth century the Comte de Choiseul-Gouffier,
French ambassador to Turkey, acquired a piece of the east frieze and
a metope from the south side of the building, as well as other
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fragments of lesser importance; these were probably detached by the
explosion of 1687 and were lying on the ground. His efforts to
obtain by bribery of officials more substantial specimens of the
Parthenon sculptures met with failure. This did not diminish his
enthusiasm for classical Greek art, and in 1790 he suggested to the
Polish Diet that a replica of the Parthenon be erected in Warsaw to
celebrate the new Polish constitution. The English traveller J. R. S.
Morritt tried to buy one of the metopes in 1795, but found the
Turks unwilling to sell anything. He observed that fifteen metopes
were still in place on the south side of the building and in a good
state of preservation.

The Parthenon could no longer serve as a mosque after the
Venetian bombardment. But some time between 1689 and 1755 a
small mosque was built without any foundations inside the cella
walls. It was not finally demolished until a large part of it collapsed in
1842.

In 1799 Thomas Bruce, seventh Earl of Elgin, was appointed
British ambassador to the Ottoman government. A detailed account
of his activities in Athens is given elsewhere in this book. A
summary will suffice here. His original intentions seem to have
been unclear — drawing and modelling the Parthenon sculptures, or
removing specimens of them whether they had already fallen to the
ground or were still in place on the building. He found himself in a
position of unexampled opportunity, since after the defeat of the
French fleet by Lord Nelson in the battle of the Nile in August 1798
the Sultan looked to Britain to protect the Ottoman Empire against
the French. As a result Elgin was able to obtain a firman from the
Sultan’s ministers authorising him to make casts and drawings of the
sculptures in place on ‘the temple of the idols’, to excavate around
the building for fragments, and to remove ‘some pieces of stone
with inscriptions or figures’. A former Keeper of Greek and Roman
Antiquities in the British Museum suggested that it is doubtful if this
firman authorised Elgin to demolish any part of the structure of the
Parthenon to obtain sculptures. Armed with this astonishingly vague
document, however, he removed and sent to England fifty slabs and
two half-slabs of the frieze and fifteen metopes — all that he
considered worth taking, as he says. In the course of this he caused
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serious damage to the building by sawing through the frieze slabs,
removing the cornice in order to detach the metopes, breaking the
entablature on which they rested, removing marble slabs from the
pavement, etc. In a later statement Elgin declared that it was only
when he came to Athens and saw the danger that threatened the
sculptures that he decided to remove them to ensure their pre-
servation. But in fact his men were removing sculptures and packing
them for despatch six months before his first and only visit to Athens
in early summer 1802. His unprecedented privileges seem to have
gradually led him morally and aesthetically out of his depth. As
related elsewhere in this book, new evidence has recently cast doubt
on whether the original firman was properly issued. Be that as it may,
the end result was that the Parthenon was despoiled of the greater
part of its sculptured decoration. The marbles were sold by Elgin in
1816 to the British government after a Parliamentary Committee
had recommended their purchase, and then presented by the
government to the British Museum.

During the Greek War of Independence the Acropolis was
twice besieged, by the Greeks in 1821-22, and by the Turks in
1826-27. Superficial damage was caused to the buildings during
both sieges. The Greeks were aware of their dilemma. Colonel
Voutier, a French philhellene who commanded a battery of Greek
artillery during the first siege, had qualms about destroying the
monuments; and in 1822 John Coletis, Minister for War in the
Greek revolutionary government, wrote to him asking him to try
to preserve the antiquities and in particular the Parthenon. In the
meantime the Turkish gamrison of the Acropolis began to break
the surviving walls of the cella to get at the lead shielding of the
clamps and melt it down for bullets. The Greek besiegers sent a
message offering to give them bullets if they would leave the
Parthenon undamaged.

For three years from 1824 to 1826 the Parthenon housed a school
for Greek girls whose fathers were fighting in the War of Inde-
pendence. After the Turks recaptured the Acropolis in 1827 they
remained in occupation until 1833, when they handed over to a
Bavarian garrison. It was not until 18 March 1835 that the Acropolis
came under the jurisdiction of the newly formed Greek Archae-
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ological Service, which has been responsible for all conservation,
excavation and restoration since then.

When the Archaeological Service took it over, the Parthenon was
in a sorry state. Yet its importance was universally recognised. In
1837 the Greek Archaeological Society was founded, and its first
meeting was held in the ruins of the Parthenon. It was on that
occasion that lakovos Rizos Neroulos, the first president of the
society, pointed to the crumbling buildings and the heaps of
masonry and said, “These stones are more precious than rubies or
agates. It is to these stones that we owe our rebirth as a nation.” The
Parthenon has been and is for almost all Greeks the symbol par
excellence of their national identity, of their links with the past, and of
the contribution that they and their forefathers have made to the
civilisation in which we all share.

The first tasks that faced the Archaeological Service were the
dismantling of the medieval and modern buildings that cluttered the
Acropolis (this was sometimes done with more enthusiasm than
discretion, in accordance with the archaeological practice of the
time) and the identification of fallen portions of ancient structures.
Then further excavation, repair and strengthening of the monu-
ments, and the restoration of fallen or misplaced stones to their
former positions (anastylosis). This work has gone on without
interruption to the present day. A by-product of it was the creation
of the Acropolis Museum, where all material from sites on the
Acropolis is stored and displayed.

In 1894 an earthquake shook the Acropolis and caused much
public concern for the safety of the ancient monuments. A thorough
and long-term programme of repair and maintenance was drawn
up, which was not completed till the 1930s. Many small fragments
of structure and decoration were discovered and identified. Nu-
merous cracks and displacements in the fabric of the Parthenon were
repaired and further anastylosis carried out. Unfortunately many of
the repairs then executed made use of iron clamps, as the technology
of the time recommended. The subsequent rusting and swelling of
those clamps has caused many problems. It is worth noting that the
original builders of the Parthenon wrapped their iron clamps in lead
to prevent rusting.
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These problems were aggravated by the atmospheric pollution
which accompanied increasing industrialisation and affluence. A
report by UNESCO experts in 1971 emphasised the urgency of a
radical programme of conservation. In 1975, after the restoration of
democracy in Greece, a planning committee was set up by the then
Minister of Culture, Professor Constantine Trypanis. Its first task
was to establish the facts. In 1977 the planning committee was
expanded and became a permanent Committee for the Preservation
of the Monuments of the Acropolis. The committee drew on the
advice and help of archaeologists, architects, engineers, chemists and
others in many countries in formulating a long-term programme
based on the most advanced technology. The details of this pro-
gramme, which will take many years to complete, are discussed
elsewhere in this book. Here I would like only to empbhasise the
quality of the care which is being given to the rock of the Acropolis
itself, to its monuments, and to the Parthenon in particular. Greece
is not a rich country, and it has more than its share of antiquities. But
no expense and no effort is being spared to stabilise, conserve, and
where possible to restore the greatest masterpiece of Greek archi-
tecture and sculpture — in the words of A. W. Lawrence, ‘the one
building in the world which may be assessed as absolutely right’.
Throughout the work of restoration and conservation, the principle
is being observed that nothing must be done which cannot be
undone without damage.

The Parthenon was built by Greeks and belongs to Greece. But it
also, in a sense, belongs to the whole world. The world may rest
assured that it is in good hands. Those who had the good fortune to
see the exhibition of conservation, restoration and research on the
Acropolis, which was shown in Athens, Moscow, London and
Amsterdam between September 1983 and January 1986, will have
realised that the work now being carried out not only makes use of
the latest results of scientific research, but also inspires those engaged
in it to give their love as well as their skill. They know that they are
the trustees for their people and for the whole world.

If the sculptures removed by Lord Elgin two hundred years ago
can be returned to Athens, this will be a just and generous counter-
part to the work of the Greek authorities and of the experts and
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craftsmen now working on the Acropolis. Whether any of them can
or should be replaced in their original positions is 2 question for the
technology and the taste of future generations. In the meantime
they can be preserved and displayed in the new museum to be built
at the foot of the Acropolis. It has recently been announced that the
design of this building will be the subject of a competition open to
architects of all nations. It will thus be possible to see the whole of
what remains of the Parthenon at the cost of a five-minute walk
rather than a 1500-mile journey. The Parthenon has been there for
a long time, and it will still be there long after the writer and the
readers of these words have mouldered to dust and their very names
are forgotten. The building and its sculptures were conceived and
executed together. They will be better understood and appreciated
if they can be seen together.
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